Town of Maggie Valley Board of Aldermen Regularly Scheduled Meeting July 11, 2023 MINUTES

Members Present:

Mayor Mike Eveland

Mayor Pro-Tem Jim Owens

Alderman John Hinton

Alderwoman Tammy Wight (left at 7:02 PM)

Alderman Phillip Wight

Members Absent:

None

Staff Present:

Vickie Best, Town Manager

Kathy Johnson, Town Clerk

Matthew Boger, Interim Police Chief

Mike Mehaffey, Public Works Director

Tasha Gubernath, Finance Director

Sam Cullen, Interim Town Planner

Haley Crocker, Detective

Logan Wood, Police Officer

Rodney Riddle, Police Officer

Steve Williamson, Attorney

Others Present:

Five others Present

Media Present:

Aarik Long, Waynesville Mountaineer

MEETING CALL TO ORDER

Mayor Eveland called the Meeting to order at 6:31 pm on Tuesday July 11, 2023, in the Maggie Valley Town Hall Boardroom, 3987 Soco Road, Maggie Valley, NC 28751.

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

The Pledge of Allegiance was repeated by all followed by prayer led by Interim Town Planner Sam Cullen.

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA/CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARATION

There were no changes to the agenda and no conflict of interest stated.

CONSENT AGENDA

- a) Minutes to be Approved: June 6, 2023, and June 20, 2023
- b) Budget to Actual
- c) A/R Report
- d) Tax Release

A motion was made by Alderwoman Tammy Wight to approve the consent agenda as presented. The motion carried unanimously.

PUBLIC COMMENT

Joy Hearn, 42 Fireside Drive, spoke about an article in the Mountaineer and expressed concern on the reaction to the Comprehensive Plan. Ms. Hearn also spoke about the work that went into the Comprehensive Plan and said she had read through the entire Plan and has a different conclusion than what Mr. Pless had stated in the paper. She read through parts of the Comprehensive Plan material with comments from citizens. She has had experience with fourteen other municipalities and this one has made more of an attempt to talk to people and get more feed back than any of the other ones that she is aware of. She said part of the problem was there was no plan when the Town was incorporated and some of the buildings have been here since then. She continued to speak about the Comprehensive Plan and zoning. She said everyone is afraid of change, but with this type of overlay and with the Future Land Use Plan the Town has a plan.

NUISANCE ORDINANCE REVISION (ORDINANCE #1048)

Mr. Cullen explained the revision is changing the height of grass from eighteen inches to ten inches and streamlines the process for the hearing and removes the criminal penalty which is not allowed in the ordinance. He explained the junk, trash, or junk vehicles were not changed in this ordinance. He answered questions from Board members and explained the ordinance is outside of the UDO. He confirmed there had been no changes since the agenda setting meeting.

A motion was made by Alderman Jim Owens to approve Ordinance #1048 Nuisance Ordinance Revision. The motion carried unanimously.

LEVEE BID APPROVAL

Public Works Director Mike Mehaffey said he feels really good with the Levee bid that was received. He said it has a short time frame and if approved they will get a notice to proceed. They will have forty-five days to be substantially complete and sixty days to be complete and the final payments made.

A motion was made by Alderman John Hinton to approve the Backwater Environmental Levee bid. The motion carried unanimously.

APPROVAL FUNDING FOR BEARWATERS BREWERY ENTRANCE FROM THE FACADE GRANT

Mr. Cullen explained the façade grant had previously been approved by the Board in the May 9, 2023 Board of Aldermen meeting and now the payout needs approval for the grant needs approval.

A motion was made by Alderwoman Tammy Wight to approve the Bear Waters façade grant payout. The motion carried unanimously.

OTHER BUSINESS

Minutes in this section are verbatim per request made by Alderman Phillip Wight.

Manager Best: Under other business you will see that I have provided you a copy of the contract with a Lobbyist Firm out of Raleigh.

Alderwoman Tammy Wight: Is there a reason this is under Other Business?

Manager Best: I did not get this until July seventh.

Alderman Phillip Wight: What does it mean? Somebody explain it to me please.

Manager Best: The Town would be contracting with this firm to fight HB 184, and any other issues of a legislative matter.

Alderman Phillip Wight: Why? Ok, I would rather hold a special meeting because it hits the floor tomorrow. I wouldn't want to waste, that's a lot of money for one day. Six thousand dollars for one day's worth of work.

Manager Best: Five thousand a month.

Alderwoman Tammy Wight: For how many months?

Alderman Jim Owens: A year's contract with cancellation at any time with thirty days' notice.

Alderman Phillip Wight: So, are we keeping them on a retainer or are we fighting one bill?

Mayor Eveland: Well, first of all, they are going to represent us in Raleigh and right now there are actually three issues that specifically hurt Maggie Valley. That is HB 184 and that also included the adopting and renewing extended moratoria, taking away that. Developmental

approval and expansion prohibiting the downzone of properties and to eliminate the ETJ from Maggie Valley, specifically.

Alderman Phillip Wight: That's the total bill.

Mayor Eveland: That's the total bill and we also have Bill 264, the partisan election. That um you know...

Alderman Phillip Wight: That only helps everybody. Mayor Eveland: Well, it actually hurts Maggie Valley.

Alderman Phillip Wight: It might hurt you.

Mayor Eveland: I mean you know then of course that's the SB that changed SB 9 and now we need to start looking at the bills for de-annexation. Evidently that is going to be the next step in what is going on in Raleigh.

Alderman Phillip Wight: So, we are going to retain a lobbyist at five thousand dollars a month? Because this bill hits the floor tomorrow.

Mayor Eveland: It what?

Alderman Phillip Wight: This bill hits the floor tomorrow and I think you ought to wait, unless you are trying to fight all of these bills and that's a waste of tax payers' money.

Alderwoman Tammy Wight: So, we could be talking sixty thousand dollars?

Mayor Eveland: Well, I guess the best way to describe this is it really depends on the actions in Raleigh.

Alderwoman Tammy Wight: I have said all along, that I feel like the partisan issue should be up to the voters because we do have an election coming up. I don't see why that can't be on a ballot for the voters to decide. I think that should be their decision.

Mayor Eveland: I have stated that as well and I don't disagree with that.

Alderman John Hinton: I have no problem with that, but that's not what we are talking about.

Mayor Eveland: But that's not what is being done.

Alderwoman Tammy Wight: On the other issues this is what I have to say. In this small town in America, we possibly have Board members willing to pay lobbyist up to \$60,000 of our hardworking tax payers' money to strip them of their very own property rights. Unlike all the falsehoods circulating in reference to trailer parks and campgrounds. This is about real hard working property owners having their properties down zoned and restricted. It could also affect a property owner that simply wants to subdivide their property to build a home for a family member. The manner in which this Board has conducted business, by knowing what's going to happen before the agenda setting meetings get started, voting on issues at agenda setting meetings before it comes to a Town Board meeting, and hiding important matters to be voted on under Other Business is underhanded and unbecoming of the way leaders should represent your town. Both Democrat and Republican leaders are failing America, starting in your own home town because they think they know better than you what's best and they are willing to say or do whatever it takes to strip you of your voice and your rights. If members of this Board want to hire a lobbyist, they should use their own money and give this extra \$60,000 back to the tax payers from which it came.

Mayor Eveland: Any other comments? Alright, do I have a motion?

Alderman Hinton: We need this, with all the whack-a-mole politics that go on in Raleigh. A bill goes in as an occupancy tax and turns up as a total ban on our governing authority. Not right. You want the people to vote on it? I'm ok with that but not just one person decides that's what we need. There was some misinformation that come out with HB184. First thing was this was an illegal moratorium. That moratorium wasn't illegal. That moratorium was crafted by our Town attorney. Crafted by his Law Firm... Accused him of being illegal... There were reasons for that moratorium. We heard in the elections, in the elections that some people deny ever happened. Covered on the applications going forward, that's what the moratorium covered.

Alderman Phillip Wight: (inaudible)

Alderman Hinton: Excuse me

Alderman Phillip Wight: Ok, go ahead

Alderman Hinton: There were six applications I think, that were not affected by that moratorium. The applicant never acted on them so that is on them, not the Town. Nothing could be further than the truth than that was an illegal moratorium. It was very legal. The UDO acted under a sham of a public hearing? That UDO was adopted over five years by the people of this town. Took five months we had a July 1 deadline. Ideally it would have been good to do the Comprehensive Land Plan first, but we had a deadline. We had to get that done. We were working under a 1998 UDO. Our population has doubled in that time. Things change, we needed to get that. The Planning Board chair said we (inaudible) to a "T" and we need to take his word on that. A shot against the UDO or attack against the UDO is attack on the people that developed it, the citizens in Maggie Valley, the Planning Board and the other Boards too. Its an assault on the Town of Maggie Valley and an assault on the Town Boards and nothing could be further from the truth than that was a sham. Recently passed the Land Use Plan as Joy Hearn just said, is the first Land Use Plan we have had since 2007. We needed that. It was developed through a third-party consulting firm, and took a year to develop. We had a survey, and numerous public work sessions all with direction of the Planning Board. There was an election on November 2, 2021. We seem to have forgotten that the direction we were given and the mandate by the voters of Maggie Valley. Joy, I agree with you rogue and depraved (inaudible). To suggest dishonest and corrupt, nothing could be further from the truth. That certainly slander and border line (inaudible). We need this representation in Raleigh. We need to know what is going on. We need to know what the bills are for and which bills are working against us. With the way things are slid in there at the end of sessions, it is whack-a-mole politics. We need representation in Raleigh that is going to support this Town and support our citizens. We don't need representation that tries to micromanage our Town and secretly undermine our government from inside and from outside. I am ready to make a motion Mr. Mayor.

Alderman Phillip Wight: This Town has never been so micromanaged until now. Y'all can hide behind (inaudible) misinformation that y'all have said in the past because I truly believe that's what you've done. Uh, there's nothing illegal? Thank God the state was listening and came up here and tried to tell y'all not to do hard core influence politics at best. Um, I think its great that less than ten percent of the registered voters is all y'all listen to and you want to take that as a mandate. I just hope we get out the vote a little bit harder next time. You only listen to ten percent of the people. Less than ten percent of the people. Huge mandate, yeah let's go with that. I am one of the little people. I think this Town owes me over three hundred thousand dollars for devaluing my property. It was all about campgrounds, campgrounds, campgrounds. Have we had one complaint about campgrounds? I have been here thirty years and nobody ever said a dang thing about campgrounds to me, nothing, but yet we want to go against you know (inaudible). There is nothing else going on in this Town. What's going on Sunday through Thursday anything? anybody? y'all busy? (inaudible) I don't know. It's the most gross negligence that I have ever seen that has been handled in the last six months of this Board meetings. Thank you.

Mayor Eveland: I will tell you this. You could sit and argue the merits of this Bill that just a week and a half ago was a two percent tax. It passed the House and was in the Senate and all of a sudden got changed at the last minute and sent through. There are a lot of words out there being

thrown around and I'm not sure what the words would be for that kind of action. The real issue here SB 9 is the same way. It was a bill that got stalled and John and I went to Raleigh to talk to people. We did that and then all of a sudden, the bill changed and was tried to pass as SB-9. And that was the partisan bill. The de-annexation really is an issue that has just recently come up. I wasn't aware that the representative of Haywood County was going to start de-annexing people from the Town. Who ever wants to all they have to do is call up with a number for their property and they will de-annex it. I don't know what all the specifics are, but I do know that it takes a bill in Raleigh to do that. We cannot be aware of and control any of that stuff that is going on in Raleigh right now unless we are aware and there is somebody telling us what to do. Not what to do but what is going on so we can make informed decisions. I would say that whether you agreed with 184 or not, the idea that they are trying to take away our rights as a town does more to deannex or all this other stuff, is wrong. Finally, I will say this, this isn't about me, ok you know. Phillip is up here talking about me, me, me, I, I, I. Its not about me, its not about whether I win or lose. It is about what is right for the folks in Maggie Valley. (repeat) It's about what's right for the folks in Maggie Valley. And I am not gonna sit there and say I might lose this or I lost that or somebody owes me. All I am going to tell you is that I will fight for the folks in Maggie Valley, alright. And that's what we are doing with this. We have to have eyes and ears about what's going on.

Alderman Phillip Wight: If you would have done (inaudible) that two percent Bill was for Maggie Valley (inaudible) four years ago. Nobody, not this Board at all would get behind that whole Bill. It is (inaudible) to be rewritten. The League of Municipalities we are a member of, they know everything that is going on at any time and they call you guys, they call the Mountaineer. Y'all know probably before this lobbyist would ever know, unless you are just paying them to work against this one thing. It is still going back against what represents tax payer's dollars. I just think this is a waste of tax payer's dollars. The rights of the Town? Oh yeah, we are being infringed upon. But you don't mind them taking the rights of an individual away.

Alderman Hinton: The list of services the lobbyist provides, we need these services. The Town needs these services.

Alderwoman Tammy Wight: I think if we have sixty thousand dollars to spare, we should give it back to the people.

Alderman Phillip Wight: I think the League of Municipalities is a lobbyist and they lean left anyway. So, we are already a member and they let you know, they are down there lobbying anyway. I don't know why you don't partner harder with those guys.

Alderwoman Tammy Wight: I also want to point out that we have ordinances on the books, like when we get the survey through the chamber, they didn't necessarily say that they didn't want campgrounds and RV's. If you paid attention to that they said they did not want to see them. We have ordinances in place that we have never enforced to beautify Maggie Valley and that has not been done.

Mayor Eveland: There was a combination of both there. There was no new campgrounds and the other. I just read that paperwork the other day.

Alderman Phillip Wight: Yeah, but the biggest lie was campgrounds. High-end RV park is really a PUD engineered drawing...

Mayor Eveland: Its not high-end RV parks, its campgrounds.

Alderman Phillip Wight: Campgrounds come six months at a time (inaudible several people speaking at once)

Mayor Eveland: First place this isn't the time or place to argue that.

Alderwoman Tammy Wight: I want to point out this is not just about campgrounds, there is more to this than just campgrounds. It's turned into campgrounds but it is not just campgrounds.

Mayor Eveland: I will tell you this, Representative Pless made it about campgrounds. Because he made it very specific. He said it was about a moratorium that was done eighteen months ago. That moratorium declared a six-month hold on all new requests for campgrounds, RV parks, and RV PUD. The intent of this legal moratorium would allow the Board of Aldermen to make findings of facts, review current laws, ordinances and other local government, to receive public comment to identify changes to the development regulations associated with campgrounds/RVs. Any property owner that had already been approved for RV PUD was not impacted. In fact, when the new UDO went into place, it did not impact the RV PUDs that were issued back in December/January 2021/2022. I'm not the one that said this 184 is punishment for the moratorium we did, these were Representative Pless' exact words (quote). Ok, when we talk about everything that we have done, the only thing we have disallowed in certain areas of the Town are campgrounds or RV parks. That's it, that's all this is about.

Alderwoman Tammy Wight: Campgrounds are not the only thing affected.

Mayor Eveland: I'm not aware of anything else that was impacted by that.

Alderwoman Tammy Wight: If someone wanted to subdivide their property to put a home in for a family member, it could possibly impact them.

Mayor Eveland: No

Alderman Phillip Wight: There wasn't an RV spot to be had this weekend, this whole month in Maggie Valley. Small lot lines, small houses, it's still going against families. There wasn't an RV spot to be had. Record breaking sales over Covid, people are doing more camping but yet you want to restrict RV parks. I don't care about campgrounds. RV parks is something that.... (Inaudible several people speaking at once). You are still taking business away from businesses. Mayor Mike Eveland: I'm not going to talk about it anymore, that's it.

Alderman John Hinton made a motion a approve the agreement with Cozort Government relations. (3-2) Alderman Jim Owens (yes), Mayor Mike Eveland (yes), Alderman Phillip Wight (no), Alderwoman Tammy Wight (No).

Alderman Phillip Wight: I would like everyone of these minutes to be printed out though and not just skimmed over and pick words out. Verbatim this time on this particular issue. Thank you.

DEPARTMENT HEAD REPORTS

a) Mike Mehaffey, Public Works Director

PUBLIC WORKS

- o Monthly maintenance, general cleaning and repairs at Town Hall, Pavilion, Parham Park, Rathbone/Rich Park, Festival Grounds, Public Works buildings and Police Department.
- Monthly Recyclables approximately twelve tons.
- Monthly Solid Waste approx. forty-seven tons.
- o Monthly White Goods/Electronics 7 pick-ups.

- o Picked up miscellaneous residential brush and debris. 293 brush pick-ups that totaled 16 loads of brush.
- o Continue maintenance and repairs on Welcome Banners, Miss Maggie Banners, Summer banners and Flag Banners.
- o Perform ditch, culvert, shoulder and road maintenance along streets. Both private and Town streets.
- Service and/or repaired five Public Works vehicles/equipment one Administration and four Police vehicles.
- o Picked up bagged trash and debris along Highway 19 and Highway 276 from Fie Top Road to the Wastewater Treatment Plant.
- o The Highway 19 Pedestrian Safety project continues to progress on a more regular schedule. We work with the DOT inspector to take care of issues.
- We continue to do spraying to control weeds and grass along sidewalks, roads and parking areas.
- O Public Works has prepared the fireworks site for this year's fireworks display. Again, I would like to thank Burton and Caroline Edwards for letting the Town use their property to make our Independence Day Fireworks display the best in the area.
- o Landscaping has been completed at the Veterans Park and Town Hall sign.
- o Public Works staffed 4 successful events during June at the Festival Grounds.

WWTP

- o Daily and Monthly testing, monitoring and analysis; Monthly cleaning and repairs.
- o Monthly Road, Levee, equipment and building maintenance.
- o Continued yearly sewer line, manhole, easement spraying and creek crossing inspections as required by DENR.
- We worked with NC Rural Water to do an I&I study of the sewer lines in the Campbell Creek watershed. We found approximately thirty deficiencies in the sewer system. We continue to repair these problems.
- o Installed/repaired five sewer services issues, cleaned and videoed approximately 270' feet of sewer line, inspected twenty sewer connections/installations, repaired/leak stopped 0 damaged manhole and inspected 0 manholes as we continue to work on I&I issues.
- O Dewatered 79,000 gallons of digester sludge. Lime Stabilized 30 tons of dewatered sludge. Also, we hauled 21 tons of dewatered sludge to landfill.
- Worked with business owners, homeowners, contractors and others to help resolve sewer related issues such as rainwater getting into sewer lines, back-ups, video inspection, private line or service locations and damage to lines.
- o Continue monthly sewer easement maintenance. Bush hogging, tree cutting, spraying and debris removal.
- o This month we received seventy-eight locate requests for NC811. These were all marked in a timely manner.
- o Continue monitoring Johnathan Creek and stream banks for fallen and dead trees that could impact the Town's sewer creek crossings. This is now required by NCDEQ.
- Removed fallen trees and debris from Jonathan's Creek on Moody Farm Road, Stonebridge Campground, Valley Creek and Campbell Creek.
- o Grease in the Towns sewer collection system and in the Wastewater Treatment Plant is an ongoing and time-consuming problem. Regular grease trap pumping and maintenance is

the key to keeping these problems to a minimum. All food handling businesses are required to have grease-removing equipment installed and to maintain records of cleaning and maintaining their equipment. The sewer department staff regularly inspects this equipment and looks at records and logs of this maintenance. This month we performed 10 grease trap inspections. Of these 1 were found to be non-compliant. We continue to work with all businesses on their grease issues. We provide assistance and education in hopes of reducing the amount of grease in our sewer system.

- o J-Creek Development has started installing the utilities for the project. We inspect the sewer, stormwater and the roads as they are being installed. This will continue through the summer.
- o Reviewed plans and permits for new developments and projects.
 - b) Matthew Boger, Interim Police Chief

Incidents

 During the month of June, the Maggie Valley Police Department investigated twenty-eight incidents which include: Aggravated Assault, Simple Assault, Trespassing, Criminal Damage to Property, Larceny, DWI, Wire Fraud Narcotics Violations, Disorderly Conduct, and Breaking and Entering

Arrests

 Maggie Valley police officers arrested ten individuals resulting in eleven charges which include: Assault, Larceny, Disorderly Conduct, Narcotics Violations, DWI, and Trespassing.

Motor Vehicle Traffic

 Maggie Valley Police Officers investigated three motor vehicle accidents for the reporting period and issued ninety-five traffic-related charges. Forty-six percent of citations were for speeding.

Officer Activities

- o There were nineteen Officer Activity Logs for the month, including: Assist Other Agencies, Civil Disturbances, Business Checks, and Unlock Motor Vehicles.
- Sgt. Flowers responded to a motor vehicle collision. The vehicle had left the roadway and flipped onto its top. The occupants were not injured; however, the driver was arrested and charged with DWI.
- Sgt. Flowers was the first on the scene of a medical call for a possible choking. Sgt Flowers discovered the patient was not choking but in cardiac or respiratory arrest. Sgt. Flower started CPR on the patient and revived him. The patient was transported to a medical facility for further treatment.
- K9 Officer Bellows responded to a cardiac arrest call and started CPR on the patient. With the assistance of Maggie Valley Fire and EMS, the patient regained a pulse on the scene and was transported for medical care. The patient later expired at the hospital.
- o Sgt. Flowers and Officer Riddle assisted MVFD with a commercial structure fire at a woodworking warehouse. The damage to the property was documented.
- o Patrol Officers (Herbertson and Wood) took an initial call for service for an arson case at a local store. Patrol secured the scene, and CID was called in to process the scene.

- Officer Herbertson and Sgt. Mackey responded to assist Canton Police Dept. with an
 active shooter call near the Canton Dollar General. Further investigation was conducted,
 and several shots were fired by the suspect involved in a domestic violence incident.
- Sgt. Mackey and Officer Herbertson arrested an individual involved in a domestic violence incident.
- o Sgt. Mackey and Det. Crocker responded to the scene
- Det. Crocker conducted a traffic stop on a vehicle for not displaying a registration plate.
 During the stop Det. Crocker, with the assistance of a Waynesville Police K9 Unit, located fentanyl and made the arrest.
- Alcohol Beverage Control receipts were acquired from our ABC stores. One ABC inspection was initiated at one local business. No BARS classes were requested for this reporting period.

Evidence Processing (E/P)

o E/P technician processed five items for the month. Evidence includes recovered snowboards, firearms, and ammunition from a previous larceny case.

Investigations (CID)

- Detective Crocker secured warrants for 1st Degree Burglary and AWDWISI in reference to an incident that occurred on Holland Drive. The subject has been arrested, and the case is pending prosecution.
- o Detective Crocker attended a CME in Asheville for a juvenile case. The case is now closed.
- Detective Crocker and Interim Chief Boger responded to a domestic scene involving a child. The parties were from Georgia. After further investigation, the allegations made occurred in Georgia. Georgia will conduct an FI and notify MVPD if anything involving the city of Maggie Valley is disclosed.

K9 Program

- K9 Officer Shanna Bellows and Charlie participated in the monthly county-wide narcotics training exercises.
- o K9 Officer Bellows and Charlie conducted two training exercises in the month of June.

Community Patrol and Interactions

- Maggie Valley Officers patrolled through our residential neighborhoods three-hundredthirty-three times during the month.
- Maggie Valley Officers performed their monthly business visitations.
- Maggie Valley Officers responded to two-hundred-fifty-three Calls for Service in this reporting period.

Events, Schools, and Meetings

- The Maggie Valley Police Department Officers worked one event at the festival grounds (Thunder in the Valley).
- Sgt. Mackey and Officer Herbertson attended Intox training.
- o Det. Crocker attended the Advanced Child Death Investigation training.
- Several July 4th planning meetings were attended

c) Sam Cullen, Interim Town Planner

There were seven residential permits: Deck addition at 204 February Lane, 228 February Land, 116 Destination Drive. Addition at 71 Plateau Drive. New deck at 222 February Lane. New home at 588 Twinbrook Lane and 27 Cedar drive.

There was one commercial permit: new building at 3987 Soco Road.

There were four Flood Plain permits: new storage unit building 1094 Soco Road. HVAC repair 65 Valley Creek Run. New deck 1113 Moody Farm Road. Soco Road pole replacement.

Three miscellaneous requests for Zoning Verification for 3695 and 1595 Soco Road. Minor Subdivision Heggie Lane.

There were eight zoning compliance letters: 33 Indian Trace, single family home and garage at 1580 Moody Farm Road, 111 Constitution Ave, 85 Park Place, 77 Loblolly Way, 588 Twinbrook Lane, 4192 Soco Road.

There were six notices of violations: Storage at 751 Soco Road and Creekside Drive. No permits at 222 February Lane, 36 Leisure Lane, Caldwell Drive, 4041 Soco Road for grass violations.

ADJOURNMENT

A motion was made by Alderman Jim Owens to adjourn the meeting at 7:12 pm. The motion carried unanimously.

Mayor Mike Eveland

Attest:

Kathy Johnson Town Clark